IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

JOSEPH MICHAEL UPHURCH

APPELLANT

VERSUS

NO. 2011-CC-00226

CITY OF MOSS POINT, A BODY POLITIC, AND ITS CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF JACKSON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Oral Argument Requested

Marilyn H. David, # Of Counsel Russell S. Gill, MSB RUSSELL S. GILL, P.L.L.C. 638 Howard Avenue Biloxi, Mississippi 39530 Telephone: (228) 432-0007

Facsimile: (228) 432-0025

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

JOSEPH MICHAEL UPHURCH

APPELLANT

VERSUS

No. 2011-CC-00226

CITY OF MOSS POINT, A BODY POLITIC, AND ITS CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION

APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Was the City of Moss Point's Civil Service Commission lawfully constituted under Miss. Code Ann. § 21-31-5 (requiring three members to be appointed to the Commission) to hold a hearing and terminate Upchurch?
- 2. Did the Commission's decision (to remove Upchurch for signing a letter) violate his First Amendment rights, thus failing the standard of review?
- 3. Did Upchurch satisfy his burden of proof to show he was terminated due to race discrimination and retaliation?
- 4. Did the Commission's decision violate Upchurch's statutory rights against racial discrimination and discrimination under 42 U.S.C. § 1981, and Title VII of the Civil Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e, et seq., failing the standard of review?
- 5. Did the Commission's decision violate Upchurch's equal protection and due process rights under the Fourteenth Amendment, thus failing the standard of review?
- 6. Did the Commission based its termination decision on erroneous factual findings, rendering the decision unsupported by substantial evidence, and arbitrary and capricious?
- 7. Were the reasons given by the Commission for Upchurch's termination a pretext for unlawful race discrimination, retaliation, and violations of constitutional and statutory rights?

STATEMENT OF CASE

This appeal stems from the termination of Lieutenant (Lt) Joseph Michael Upchurch from employment with the Moss Point Police Department. (Upchurch Exh. 1)¹ (R.E.12-14)² The Police Department set forth its grounds for termination in an "intent to terminate" letter to Upchurch dated February 3, 2010, wherein it stated:

² "R.E." refers to the Record Excerpts submitted to this Court.

[&]quot;Upchurch Exh." refers to the exhibits Upchurch submitted at the Commission hearing.

This is written notice that Moss Point Police Chief Sheila Smallman recommended to the Mayor and Board of Aldermen of the City of Moss Point that you be discharged and terminated as an employee and policeman of the City for the following reasons and accusations: lack of respect for Department Heads; insubordination; lack of loyalty to the Moss Point Police Department; conduct unbecoming an officer and a supervisor; failure to comply and ill disregard for departmental policy and procedures; creating a hostile working environment for fellow subordinates; failure or refusal to carry out instructions; use of abusive, vulgar and foul language and making false, vicious or malicious statements about employees...

- 1. Failure to call a detective or evidence technician to the scene of the Shell Station robbery on January 10, 2010, which interfered with the proper collection of said evidence.
- 2. Lack of respect for the Police Chief, specifically statements made in the presence of other employees regarding a prior Chief that "now that is a Chief right here." Further, your statements to another police officer that the Police Chief wouldn't be here [the City] in 3 months. (January 13, 2010).
- 3. Disregard for departmental policy when he failed to notify the Chief or Deputy Chief that Corporal Shipman left work prior to the end of his shift and your failure to get overtime for Officer Bonds pre-approved by the Chief or Deputy Chief. (January 14, 2010).
- 4. Creating hostile work environment for fellow subordinates, specifically your treatment of Patrolman Cherry. Further, your refusal to carry out instructions by the Chief to properly train Patrolman Cherry. (January 16, 2010).

(R.E.17-18) Subsequent to the "intent to terminate" letter, the City of Moss Point, through its attorney, terminated Upchurch in a letter dated February 26, 2010. (R.E.19).

Lt Upchurch appealed the termination to the Commission (R.E.15-16), which held an investigatory hearing de novo held on May 11, 2010, including testimony of witnesses and documentary exhibits. Miss. Code Ann. 21-31-23. However, the Commission refused to allow Upchurch to fully present his case concerning violation of his constitutional and statutory rights, specifically that terminating his employment was not in good faith for cause because his termination was due to race discrimination and retaliation. (T. ³ 40,75,84,99,166-168;R.E.126,144,152,162,211-213)

³ "T." refers to the transcript of the Commission hearing.

On or about June 16, 2010, the Commission issued its decision, making factual findings and constituting the final decision of the City (under *City of Jackson v. Little*, 245 So.2d 204, 205 (Miss. 1971)). The Commission terminated Upchurch for insubordination in connection with Patrolman Cherry's training, disregard of departmental policy regarding overtime authorization, failure to call an evidence technician to the scene of a robbery, and lack of respect toward Chief Smallman. But, the Commission added a new ground for termination for which Upchurch was never given notice: lack of loyalty to Chief Smallman by joining with 10 other officers in signing a letter to the City's Aldermen (which exposed unlawful activities in the police department). (R.E.13)

Upchurch appealed the Commission's decision to the Circuit Court of Jackson County on or about July 12, 2010. On January 11, 2011, the Circuit Court affirmed the Commission's decision. (R.E.3-4)

Upchurch now appeals the Circuit Court's decision, timely filing his Notice of Appeal on February 1, 2011. (R.E.5-6)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Upchurch was employed with the Moss Point Police Department for approximately six years, but had three years in law enforcement prior to that, making a total of nine years. (T. 93-94;R.E.156-157). The Police Department sent Upchurch to the Academy in 2001, and Upchurch graduated from the Academy. *Id.* Upchurch moved up the ranks with the Department and ultimately attained the rank of lieutenant, which made him responsible for running day-to-day shifts. (T. 96;R.E.159)

Upchurch was recognized as an exemplary police officer and employee, receiving many accolades and letters of commendation during his career. (T.93-97,R.E.156-160) He consistently had the best performance records in the police department, which other officers tried to surpass by improving their performance. (R.E. 21, 92-96) (T.94-97;R.E. 157-160).

Upchurch began having problems in the department after Smallman took over as Police in

June 2008. (T.22,97-98;R.E.119,160-161) As a result of various incidents of racial discrimination by Smallman against him regarding disciplinary and other employment actions, Upchurch filed several grievances and discrimination complaints. (R.E. 20-32;53) He ultimately filed two racial discrimination lawsuits: *Upchurch v. City of Moss Point, Smallman, Johnson, et al.*, U.S. Dist.Ct. Miss., So.Div., Case No. 1:10 cv 228 LG-RHW & Case No. 1:11 cv 327 LG-RHW.

Upchurch, a white, filed one particular grievance as a result of Smallman, an African-American, referring to Upchurch multiple times as a "white boy" and taking unwarranted disciplinary action against him. (T. 99;R.E. 25) Detective Sergeant (Det. Sgt.) Craig confirmed this in her testimony (T.165-166,R.E.210-211) and written memo (R.E.42) dated February 12, 2009, which stated:

On January 26, 2009, it was the second time Chief S. Smallman had made reference to the employees that were going over the Mayor's office as white boys. Chief Smallman exact words were "What are those white boys up to now?" My reply was who are you talking about? Chief Smallman reply was Stevenson, Ashley, Upchurch...etc. Both times the statement Chief Smallman made were what are those white boys up to now.

As a result of Upchurch's grievance and/or discrimination complaint, he received a letter dated February 26, 2009, wherein Nicole Jacobs, the City's Director of Human Resources, indicated the matter had been resolved by taking "the appropriate measures," apparently in Upchurch's favor.⁴

The specific allegation surrounded the use of discriminatory language used by the Chief of Police, Chief Sheila Smallman.

As a result of my investigation into the facts surrounding this allegation, I am pleased to inform you that the appropriate measures have been taken as it relates to your complaint.

Unfortunately, due to confidentiality reasons, I cannot disclose the specific remedy that was taken; however, allow me to reassure you that the City of Moss Point takes matter of discrimination against any of our employees very seriously.

⁴ The Director of Human Resources wrote to Upchurch in an official letter (R.E.40)(T.101-102; R.E.164-165):

Contrary to the City's zero-tolerance policy for retaliation, Smallman retaliated against Upchurch. She gave him racially disparate and discriminatory treatment in shift assignment, working conditions, and educational opportunities, as described in Part IV.B of this brief. Among other things, Smallman acted in an inconsistent manner in her discipline of officers, which included adverse treatment of Upchurch.

The City Director of Human Resources even issued a memorandum (R.E.41) to Smallman, admonishing her for disparate treatment of officers under her command, as follows:

For the past six months, I have been continuously discussing the need to be consistent with all of the Officers, particularly when it comes to matters such as disciplining.

I point this out in hopes of this being a teachable moment for you...[w]hen Officers are held to different standards, it causes hurt feelings, resentment and sometimes even lawsuits.

Again, I point these facts out to you to give you a real life example of what I have been saying over and over again these past few months. We can and must do a better job of being consistent in all employees.

Upchurch ultimately filed a complaint with the Equal Employment Opportunity

Commission (hereinafter "EEOC") as a result of the racially disparate treatment from Smallman.

(R.E.53)(T. 102;R.E.165). Additionally, Upchurch, along with several other officers³, signed a

Letter of No Confidence, dated February 3, 2010 and submitted to the City's Board of Aldermen, exposing illegalities and violations of law practiced by the Police Department's management.

(R.E. 48-49)(T.104;R.E.167) After this, the City dismissed Upchurch.

In addition, as noted in your employee handbook, the City has a zero tolerance policy for retaliation against an employee who has filed a grievance. As such, it is your immediate responsibility to notify this office if you feel that you are being retaliated against for having filed this grievance.

³ Officers joining Upchurch in signing the "Letter of No Confidence" include the following: Lt. Ashley, Sgt. Craig, Cpl. Shipman, Cpl. Gaston, Cpl. Gray, Ofc. Brown, Ofc. Boden, Ofc. Norton, Ofc. Manyard, Former Ofc. Parrish. (R.E.49)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court erred by failing to find the Commission's decision did not pass the standard of review, in the following respects, which are all apparent from the face of the record. The Commission made the final decision on behalf of the City to terminate Upchurch's employment. But, the decision was beyond the power of the Commission to make, because the Commission was not duly appointed in accordance with Miss. Code Ann. § 21-31-5. The statute requires the Commission to have three appointed members, but the Commission had only two at the time.

The Commission dismissed Upchurch because he signed a letter along with 10 other officers, exposing unlawful practices by police department management. As a matter of law, the Court can determine that the public would have an interest in knowing of the letter's contents, making the letter protected under the First Amendment. The Commission found the letter was disloyal, but there was no evidence or finding of any requirement for loyalty that overrode Upchurch's First Amendment right of expression. Because the Commission's decision violated Upchurch's First Amendment rights, this ground failed the standard of review.

In his testimony and evidence before the Commission, Upchurch made points refuting each of the allegations made against him by the Police Department (T. 105-124;(R.E.168-185). Upchurch provided testimony and evidence to show that his termination, as well as the events leading up to his termination, were a result of racial discriminatory and retaliatory actions of Smallman, and that the alleged reasons given for his termination were factually incorrect and a pretext for racial discrimination. He showed that, because of this, the alleged reasons for his termination were not in good faith for cause, as required under Miss. Code Ann. §21-31-23. Race discrimination violates Title VII of the Civil Rights Act, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e, 42 U.S.C. § 1981, and the Fourteenth Amendment's equal protection clause, causing the termination decision to fail the standard of review (i.e., violation of statutory and constitutional rights).

Upchurch's probative points and associated evidence were not controverted by the City or or its witnesses, who simply failed to address them. This left Upchurch's evidence uncontested, warranting reversal of his termination for failing to pass the standard of review requiring substantial evidence.

Upchurch bore his burden of proof to establish pretext by showing that Police Chief Smallman, the City's primary witness, had discriminatory animus against him because she used race-related comments (e.g, "white boy") and did not discipline black officers who committed the same or similar infractions Upchurch was accused of.

Facts on the face of the record establish violations of Upchurch's due process rights under the Fourteenth Amendment. In particular, Upchurch was not given notice that the letter he signed would be a "lack of loyalty" ground for termination; thus, he had no meaningful opportunity to defend against it. The City also denied Upchurch a pre-termination hearing before officials who were independent of the agency initiating his termination. The City denied Upchurch a meaningful post-termination hearing, because the Commission refused to let him present his case and witness testimony that the grounds for termination were a pretext for race discrimination, retaliation, and First and Fourteenth Amendment violations.

With regard to alleged insubordination, the uncontroverted admissions in the Chief's contemporaneous memo established the Chief gave Upchurch vague and confusing instructions about training Patrolman Cherry, and Upchurch followed them exactly.

With regard to alleged disregard for departmental policy regarding authorization of overtime, Upchurch did not disregard departmental policy for this incident because there was no specific department policy. When asked to produce or identify the policy allegedly violated, the Chief could not. Furthermore, the uncontroverted evidence shows the Chief had a "do not disturb unless emergency" sign on her door. Upchurch made a good-faith judgment call that authorizing

two hours of overtime was not an emergency, but within his authority and chain of command, as he was the acting supervisor because the Chief and Deputy Chief were unavailable.

With regard to the alleged failure to call an evidence technician to the scene of a robbery, Chief Smallman had issued a directive that precluded supervisors like Upchurch from calling out the technician, and restricted this responsibility to the Deputy Chief. In accordance with the directive, Upchurch called the Deputy Chief, as was witnessed by another officer, but it was the Deputy Chief who failed to call out the technician. No evidence controverts these facts.

With regard to alleged lack of respect by commenting that Chief Smallman would not be in her job in three months, Upchurch was only relating news he had heard that Smallman was going back to her previous job at the Attorney General's office. There is no evidence that there was a rule against repeating news that someone might be changing jobs, and other employees making similar comments were not terminated or even disciplined, showing this ground is a pretext.

With regard to alleged lack of loyalty by exposing the unlawful practices of police department management in the letter Upchurch signed, another lieutenant and other officers and supervisors signed the letter, too. None of them were terminated or even disciplined, showing this ground is a pretext.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

A. This Court must apply a four-part standard of review to the Commission's factual findings.

This appeal entails a review of the circuit court's decision regarding the Commission's action to terminate Upchurch's employment. When this Court reviews a decision by a circuit court concerning an agency action, it applies the same standard of review the circuit court was bound to follow. Mississippi Com'n on Environmental Quality v. Chickasaw County Bd. of Sup'rs, 621

So.2d 1211, 1216 (Miss. 1993); Mississippi Employment Sec. Com'n. v. Gaines, 580 So.2d 1230, 1233 (Miss.1991); Mississippi Employment Sec. Commission v. Pulphus, 538 So.2d 770, 772 (Miss.1989).

This scope of review of the findings and actions of an administrative agency is well established. *Chickasaw County*, 621 So.2d at 1215. The reviewing court will entertain the appeal to determine whether or not the order of the administrative agency

- 1) was unsupported by substantial evidence,
- 2) was arbitrary or capricious,
- 3) was beyond the power of the administrative agency to make, or
- 4) violated some statutory or constitutional right of the complaining party.

Southeast Miss. Legal Serv. v. Miss. Power, 605 So.2d 796, 798 (Miss.1992). These are the only grounds for overturning an agency action; otherwise, the agency's determination must remain undisturbed. Id.; Dept. of Health v. S.W. Miss. Med. Ctr., 580 So.2d 1238, 1239 (Miss.1991); Melody Manor Convalescent Center v. Mississippi State Dept. of Health, 546 So.2d 972, 974 (Miss.1989); Eidt v. City of Natchez, 421 So.2d 1225, 1231 (Miss.1982).

However, an older case from the Mississippi Supreme Court seemed to equate the first two parts of the standard of review with an appellate analysis of whether an agency's decision was "made in good faith for cause":

... the only sound, practicable or workable rule that can be announced is to hold that the court to which the appeal is taken from an administrative agency shall only inquire into whether or not the judgment appealed from is reasonable and proper according to the facts disclosed before the board that is to say whether or not its decision is supported by substantial evidence or is arbitrary or capricious, etc. or in other words whether or not it was made in good faith for cause. [211 Miss. at 693, 695, 53 So.2d at 52, 53].

City of Meridian v. Hill, 447 So.2d 641, 644 (Miss.,1984). However, the Court went on to distinguish the grounds for termination to be applied by the Commission in reaching its decision (i.e., "good faith for cause") from the standard of review to be applied by the courts (i.e., the traditional four-parts enunciated above), and actually applied only the latter as a standard of review. Hill, 447 So.2d at 643, 644.

In 1988, the Court seemed to follow suit, stating: "the criterion is whether or not from an examination of the record there exists credible evidence substantiating the action taken by the city. It is upon this basis that the court determines whether or not the decision was in "good faith for cause." *City of Jackson v. Froshour*, 530 So.2d 1348, 1355 (Miss. 1988). See also *Eidt v. City of Natchez*, 421 So.2d 1225, 1231 (Miss. 1982), *City of Jackson Police Dept. v. Ruddick*, 243 So.2d 566 (Miss. 1971), *City of Hattiesburg v. Jackson*, 235 Miss. 109, 108 So.2d 596 (1959); these are older cases where the Court applied the four-part standard of review.

In recent times, this Court has continued to require that circuit and chancery courts hearing appeals of agency actions adhere to the traditional four-part standard above. *Chickasaw County*, 621 So.2d at 1215. *See*, *e.g.*, *Southeast Miss. Legal Serv. v. Miss. Power*, 605 So.2d at 798; *Mississippi Public Service Commission v. Columbus & Greenville Ry. Co.*, 573 So.2d 1343, 1346 (Miss.1990).

B. The Commission's decision must be supported by substantial evidence that is factual and acceptable to a reasonable mind.

The first part of the standard of view, "substantial evidence," has been defined as "such evidence 'as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion. Substantial evidence means evidence which is substantial, that is, affording a substantial basis of fact from which the fact in issue can be reasonably inferred." *Ladnier v. City of Biloxi*, 749 So.2d 139, 147-48 (Miss. 1999) (quoting *State Oil & Gas Bd. v. Mississippi Mineral & Royalty Owners Assoc.*, 258 So.2d 767, 779 (Miss. 1971)). *See also Burleson v. Hancock County Sheriff's*

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