#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

JOSEPH MICHAEL UPCHURCH

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

CAUSE NO.2011-cc-00226

CITY OF MOSS POINT, A BODY POLITIC AND ITS CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION

**APPELLEE** 

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Mississippi Supreme Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. The City of Moss Point, Appellee
- 2. Moss Point Civil Service Commission, Appellee
- 3. Joseph Michael Upchurch, Appellant

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The evidence and testimony before the Civil Service Commission and the Jackson County Circuit Court supports the finding that Michael Upchurch's termination was not made for political or religious reasons and was made in good faith for cause. (Circuit Court Record Excerpt ("R.E.") 000029-000031 and 000134-000135). Upchurch provided no evidence that the Mayor and Board of Aldermen have ever discriminated against Upchurch in anyway, but rather provided evidence of alleged discrimination by the Chief of Police. *See* Civil Service Transcript ("C.S.T"). The Commission, as it is required to do, heard testimony from the City to support termination and from Upchurch against termination. (Circuit Court Transcript ("C.C.T."), 27). The Commission weighed all the evidence and testimony before it, and found the City's decision to terminate was justified. (R.E. 000029-000031). The Circuit Court agreed and upheld the termination. (R.E. 000134-000135). Upchurch's argument that his evidence against termination was somehow more "substantial" is irrelevant because the Commission, sitting as judge and jury, listened to all the testimony, reviewed the evidence presented, and found the City's evidence in favor of termination warranted termination and was made in good faith for cause.

There was substantial evidence to support the Commission's first basis for termination,

that being "insubordination, including disrespect for authority by refusing to carry out instructions from Chief Smallman to properly train Patrolman Cherry." Testimony was given in support of this basis for termination by Chief Smallman, Officer Cherry and even Upchurch.

The testimony and evidence before the Commission from Officers Clark, Upchurch and the Chief of Police support the second basis for termination, which was stated as "disregard for departmental policy by failing to notify Chief or Deputy Chief that Officer Shipman left work prior to the end of his shift and his failure to obtain authorization to work Officer Bond overtime." Although Upchurch stated he failed to get the Chief's approval for the overtime because of a "do not disturb" sign on her door, Upchurch later admitted that the "do not disturb" sign on the door was not the true basis for his failure to get overtime pre-approved, but rather he felt that it was his call as Supervisor to make the decision on overtime. The fact that Upchurch, when addressing the Mayor and Board about his termination and initially in his testimony before the Commission, felt the need to rely on the fact there was a "do not disturb" sign on the door as his basis for failing to get her approval, supports the City's position that Upchurch knew, and disregarded the policy that the Chief and/or Deputy Chief must approve overtime.

The third basis for termination was also supported by substantial evidence. Officers Clark, Upchurch and the Chief provided testimony in support of the Commission's decision to terminate Upchurch for his failure to call a detective or evidence technician to the scene of the Shell Station robbery.

Last, the testimony before the Commission also supports the fourth and final basis for termination, "lack of loyalty to the Moss Point Police Department and lack of respect for the Chief of Police." Officer Upchurch admitted being the co-author of the letter of no confidence, Upchurch admitted making the statement to former Chief Gager "now that is a Chief right here,"

and Upchurch admitted to making the statement "the Chief wouldn't be here in three months" to Officer Savage. Upchurch's testimony alone supports the Commission's finding of lack of respect for the Chief and lack of loyalty to the department.

While Upchurch did present evidence to refute the above allegations, the City likewise presented testimony and evidence to support the termination. The Civil Service Commission weighed all testimony and evidence and found that the City's decision to terminate Upchurch was NOT made for political reasons or religious reasons, and that the termination was made in good faith for cause. (R.E. 000029-000031 and 000134-000135).

Upchurch's argument that the Commission failed to comply with Mississippi Code

Annotated Section 21-31-5, which requires there to be three (3) members on the Commission, is
unsupported by the law. First, the Commission is allowed to operate with a quorum, which is the
majority of the members present. (R.E. 000125-000126). This has been supported by the

Attorney General on at least two occasions. (R.E. 000130-000133). Using the same reasoning as
expressed by the Attorney General in Williams, 1981 WL 39995 (September 8, 1981), every
form of municipal government in the State of Mississippi requires the Board/Council members
"shall be" a certain number, and all state that a quorum "shall be" a certain number less than the
full Board. Boards throughout the State operate with less than the full Board although the
language states "shall." Practically speaking, to require all members present at each meeting
would severely hamper city business.

The City's argument in favor of a quorum has also been supported by the United States Supreme Court as it relates to the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") and the Federal Trade Commission ("FTC"). Federal Trade Commission v. Flotill Products, 88 S. Ct. 401 (1967), Securities and Exchange Commission v. Feminella, 947 F. Supp. 722 (U.S.D.C. NY

1996). Therefore, this ground for appeal has no merit.

#### **ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES**

The Civil Service Commission reviews the employment decisions of a city when a city has removed, suspended, demoted, or discharged a civil service employee. Miss. Code. Ann.§ 21-31-23 and (R.E. 000127-000128). The Commission can reverse a city's actions only if the termination was made for political reasons, religious reasons and/or the termination was not made in good faith for cause. *Id.* The Commission will affirm the disciplinary action taken against the employee only when the evidence is conclusive. *Id.* Thus, the Commission is to decide if the evidence is conclusive that the termination was for good cause. *Bowie v. City of Jackson Police Department*, 816 So. 2d 1012, 1019 (Ct. App. Miss, 2002). The conclusive language comes into the statute to show the degree to which the Commission must be convinced the termination was for good cause, not to act as a separate standard of review. *Id.* 

An appeal from a decision made by the Civil Service Commission shall be reviewed by the Circuit Court based on the record which is made by the Commission and not *de novo*.

Uniform Circuit and County Court Rule 5.01. The Circuit Court is prohibited from making credibility determinations on the evidence or testimony that was presented to the Civil Service Commission. *City of Jackson v. Froshour*, 530 So. 2d 1348, 1354-55 (Miss. 1988); *City of Laurel v. Brewer*, 919 So. 2d 217 (Ct. App. Miss. 2005). Instead, the Circuit Court is charged with determining whether the Commission acted in good faith in finding that the city did have cause to discharge. Within the context of reviewing a decision of an administrative agency, "substantial evidence has been defined as such evidence 'as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." *Id.* Substantial evidence means evidence which is substantial, that is affording a substantial basis of fact from which the fact in issue can be

reasonably inferred. *Id.* The Circuit Court is not to determine issues of fact regarding whether an employee was guilty of the charge or not, but should only determine whether the Commission acted in good faith based on the evidence before it. *City of Meridian v. Davidson*, 53 So. 2d 48, 60 (Miss. 1951); *City of Laurel v. Brewer*, 919 So. 2d at 222.

Just as the Circuit Court, the Supreme Court has the same very limited standard of review in examining appeals from the Civil Service Commission. *Bowie v. City of Jackson Police*Department, 816 So. 2d at 1018. On appeal to the Supreme Court, just as on appeal to the lower court, the question is whether or not the action of the Civil Service Commission was in good faith for cause. *Id.* Intertwined with this question is whether or not there was substantial evidence before the Commission to support its order and whether it is arbitrary, unreasonable, confiscatory, and capricious. *Id.* 

The Civil Service Commission sits as judge and jury at a termination hearing.

Northington v. State of Mississippi, 749 So. 2d 1099 (Ct. App. Miss. 1999). The Court of

Appeals has stated "[w]hen presented with conflicting theories as to the actual events which

transpired, the jury is the judge of the weight and credibility of the testimony and is free to accept

or reject all or some of the testimony given by each witness." Id. at 1103-04. It further stated

"[i]t is not the position of the [Court of Appeals] to act as a fact finder. It is the job of the

Commission to determine which facts to believe and which not to believe." Bowie, 816 So. 2d at

1019, citing Beasley v. City of Gulfport, 724 So. 2d 883 (Miss. 1998).

The Moss Point Civil Service Commission, acting as the jury, heard conflicting evidence from Upchurch and the City for each reason listed by the City to support its decision to terminate. The Commission weighed this testimony and ultimately upheld the termination. (R.E. 000029-000031). The Commission was free to accept all or none of Upchurch's testimony and evidence,

just as it was free to accept all or none of the City's testimony and evidence. The fact it decided in favor of the City simply means the Commission (i.e., the jury) found the City's evidence in support of the termination conclusive.

Mississippi Code Section 21-31-23 states that "[a]fter such investigation the Commission may, if in its estimation the evidence is conclusive, affirm the disciplinary actions..." This language stresses that if the Commission, acting as a finder of fact, finds the evidence conclusive, then it can affirm the City. *Bowie*, 816 So. 2d at 1019. That is exactly what the Commission did in this case; it found the facts conclusive and affirmed the termination. It is not the role of this honorable Court to act as a fact finder, but rather it is the Commission's job to determine which facts to believe and which not to believe. *Id.* In this case, the Commission believed the facts conclusively proved Upchurch's termination was for good cause. (R.E. 000029-000031). The Commission followed the statute, and therefore, the City requests this Court to find Upchurch's termination was for good cause and supported by substantial evidence.

# I. The Commission Weighed All Evidence and Found in Favor of the City. The Commission's Decision was Based on Substantial Evidence and was not Arbitrary and Capricious. Upchurch Did not Satisfy his Burden of Proof.

In reviewing the record, it is clear that there is substantial evidence to support the Commission's decision to uphold the City's termination of Upchurch. Further, the evidence and testimony demonstrate the Commission's decision to terminate based on the reasons discussed in full below, was made in good faith for cause and not based on any political or religious reasons.

### A. Insubordination, Including Disrespect for Authority by Refusing to Carry Out Instructions From Chief Smallman to Properly Train Patrolman Cherry

Officer James Cherry and the Chief provided strong testimony to support the Commission's finding of insubordination in Upchurch's failure to train Officer Cherry.

Q: What training did Officer Upchurch provide you [Cherry]?

A: None. Not any that would- - after being out here on the streets, none. But what I've learned so far since he's been gone, he didn't train me in anything.

Q: After you lodged your complaint with the Chief about the training you were receiving, did anything improve with Officer Upchurch?

A: No, Ma'am. It actually got worse. . . . (C.S.T. 196-197).

Chief Smallman refuted Upchurch's testimony that Officer Cherry needed more training in dispatch and the jail. When asked if jail and dispatch were required training for new patrolmen, she stated "[n]o, they are not. That is not a requirement for patrolmen. They are simply put in those two areas to basically observe so they can learn what all the dispatcher is going through. . . ." (C.S.T. 217). The Chief also testified that she did not request, nor was it normal police protocol, to have an assessment performed on new patrolmen by a dispatcher and a jailer as Upchurch did to Cherry. (C.S.T. 217-218). The Chief knew of no prior instances where an Officer in Charge (OIC) had asked for a report on an officer's performance from dispatch and the jail. (C.S.T. 218).

Chief Smallman offered the following with regard to Upchurch's refusal to train Officer Cherry:

Q: Did you speak to [Cherry] about what his concerns were?

A: Yes

Q: After that did you have a conversation with Officer Upchurch [about his training]?

A: Yes, I did.

Q: What did you tell Upchurch?

A: I asked him to train both Cherry and Reynolds, that they had

started together; they both needed adequate training. I told him that there would be no discrimination between the two, that they should be adequately trained.

Q: Did you elaborate on the training? Did you say in the field or patrol?

A: In the field. Well, according to Cherry he spent his full shift, I think, in the jail and in the dispatch room. And I tried to reason with Lieutenant Upchurch and I told him, you know, you've got two new candidates here that need training, split the hours up. If you have three people, split it four hours a piece.

Q: Now, after you had this original conversation with Officer Upchurch, it's my understanding that you came to the Department and Officer Cherry was in dispatch?

A: That's correct.

Q: This is following your conversation with Officer Upchurch?

A: That is correct.

Q: Did he disobey your order--[to train Officer Cherry]?

A: He did. He disobeyed the order. (C.S.T. 218-219).

Based on the testimony of Chief Smallman and Officer Cherry, there was substantial evidence before the Commission to support its finding that Upchurch was insubordinate with regard to Officer Cherry's training.

#### B. Disregard for Departmental Policy

The Commission's finding that Upchurch "disregard[ed] departmental policy by failing to notify Chief or Deputy Chief that Officer Shipman left work prior to the end of the shift and his; failure to obtain authorization to work Officer Bond overtime" was fully supported by the evidence and testimony before them. (R.E. 00030).

Upchurch originally claimed that he did not seek approval for Shipman leaving and overtime for Bond because there was a "do not disturb" sign on the Chief's door. (C.S.T. 119).

He also testified that he believed it was an "emergency" and that he had to take action because otherwise the officers' safety would be in jeopardy because only two (2) officers would be on the street. (C.S.T. 117). Specifically, when asked by the City "did you believe it was important to have more than two officers on patrol," he responded "Oh yea, definitely." (C.S.T. 135). When asked if it was a serious situation, Upchurch responded "Yes, it was important, which is why I made the decision to have Bond stay over until I could contact the Chief or Deputy Chief." *Id.* His testimony, changed, however, when cross examined by the City:

Q: Well, what about knocking on the Chief's door? Why didn't you do that?

A: It had a do-not-disturb sign on the door.

Q: What's wrong with knocking on the door of the Chief with the sign up?

A: Because it says do not disturb.

Q (Commission attorney): Did you decide not to knock on it because of a sign? Or are you telling me you've been ordered not to knock on it if the sign's up?

A: The sign is pretty self-explanatory, I mean to me.

(C.S.T. 119).

**Q**: Did you consider this an emergency?

A: No (this is in contrast to the testimony cited supra)

**Q:** It wasn't an emergency?

A: No, Ma'am, I would not say it was an emergency.

Q: But it was important enough to try to talk to Chief Smallman before you did anything, correct?

A: No, I did what every other supervisor would have done.

Q: So, you wanted to talk to her?

A: Yea, when she came out of her meeting I was going to talk to her, mostly due to the fact the Deputy Chief

didn't schedule anybody to come in and work the jail. It's like everything I do, I get in trouble because he is not. . .you know, he fails on his part of his job.

- Q: You originally said the only reason you didn't talk to her was because she was in a meeting with a do not disturb sign?
- A: I just said I was going to talk to her, yes, sir. But for the main reason due to the Deputy Chief. (C.S.T. 136-137).

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